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Corporations Act 2001 

A Company Limited by Shares 

CONSTITUTION OF 
INDUSTRY FUNDS MANAGEMENT PTY LTD  

ACN 107 247 727 
 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

In this Constitution unless expressed or implied to the contrary: 

Board means the directors of the Company having authority to act for the Company 
acting as a body. 

Call includes an amount payable on allotment on any fixed date or by instalments 
whether being the nominal value of a share or a premium. 

clause means a clause of this Constitution. 

Constitution means this constitution. 

Company means Industry Funds Management Pty Ltd ACN 107 247 727 

Debenture includes debenture stock, bonds, notes and other securities of the 
Company, whether constituting a charge on its assets or not. 

Director means a person who is at the relevant time a duly appointed director of the 
Company. 

Dividend means an amount paid to Members as a division of profits of the Company 
and includes bonus and interim dividends. 

Chief Executive Officer means the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in 
accordance with this Constitution. 

Member means a member of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Office means the registered office of the Company. 

Ordinary Resolution has the same meaning as the Corporations Act 2001. 

Register means the register of Members kept in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Secretary means any person duly authorised to perform the duties of secretary of 
the Company. 

Special Resolution has the same meaning as in the Corporations Act 2001. 
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1.2 Construction 

(a) Words or expressions used in this Constitution will be interpreted in 
accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 in force at the 
time the interpretation is required. 

(b) In this Constitution unless a different intention appears: 

(i) words importing the singular will include the plural and vice versa; and 

(ii) words importing one gender will include the other; and 

(iii) words importing person will include companies and corporations 

(iv) Any headings or marginal notes in this Constitution are used for 
convenience only and will not affect its construction. 

(v) Division 10 of Part 1.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 applies in relation 
to this Constitution as if it were an instrument made under the 
Corporations Act 2001 as in force on the date on which this 
Constitution becomes binding on the Company. 

1.3 Headings 

Headings and subheadings are included for reference only and do not affect the 
interpretation of this Constitution. 

2. PROPRIETARY COMPANY 

2.1 Restricted Right of Transfer 

The Company is a proprietary company and the right to transfer shares in the 
Company is restricted as provided in this Constitution. 

2.2 Members not to exceed Fifty 

The number of Members must not exceed 50. 

2.3 Public not to Subscribe 

The Company must not invite the public to subscribe for or make any offer to the 
public to accept subscriptions for shares in or Debentures of the Company.  The 
Company must not invite the public to deposit money with or make any offer to the 
public to accept deposits of money with the Company. 

3. SHARES 

(a) The Board may determine to issue Shares or otherwise allot, control or 
dispose of Shares with such rights privileges entitlements and on such 
conditions as they deem fit, subject to the provisions of this Constitution and 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

(b) The Company may issue redeemable preference Shares or preference 
Shares redeemable at the option of the Company and the Board may 
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exercise such power in any manner it may think fit subject to the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

4. REDUCTION OF CAPITAL 

The Company may, by Special Resolution, reduce its capital in any way permitted by 
law. 

5. OTHER ALTERATION OF CAPITAL 

The Company may, by Ordinary Resolution: 

(a) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of a larger 
amount than its existing shares; 

(b) sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of a smaller amount than is 
fixed by the Constitution so that the proportion between the amount paid and 
the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share is the same as it was with 
the original share.  The Company may also determine that any of the shares 
resulting from the sub-division have some special or preferential rights or 
some disabilities or conditions as between the shares resulting from the sub-
division; and 

(c) cancel shares which have not then been taken or agreed to be taken by any 
person or which have been forfeited and reduce the amount of its share 
capital by the amount of the cancelled shares. 

6. VARIATION OF CLASS RIGHTS 

6.1 Variation 

If the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights, privileges, 
disabilities and conditions attached to any class may be varied or abrogated only in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and this clause. 

6.2 Consent Required 

No rights, privileges, disabilities or conditions attached to any class of shares can be 
varied or abrogated without the written consent of the holders of at least three 
quarters of the issued shares of that class or without the sanction of a Special 
Resolution passed at a general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.  
The clauses dealing with general meetings apply so far as they are capable to 
general meetings of classes of shareholders except that three persons constitute a 
quorum and any holder of shares of the relevant class may demand a poll. 

6.3 Restrictions on Variation 

The rights conferred on the holders of the shares of a class are not deemed to be 
varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking equally with the first 
mentioned shares unless expressly provided by the terms of issue of those first 
mentioned shares or unless required by the Corporations Act 2001. 
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7. CERTIFICATES 

7.1 Right to Certificate 

Every Member is entitled without payment to receive a certificate under the seal of 
the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 for the shares registered 
in the name of that Member.  Delivery of a certificate to one joint holder is sufficient 
delivery to all joint holders of that share. 

7.2 Lost, Destroyed and Damaged Certificates 

If the share certificate or other document of title is lost or destroyed, the Company 
may issue a duplicate certificate in its place upon the conditions set out in section 
1089 of the Corporations Act 2001.  If a share certificate is worn out or damaged, 
then upon its production to the Company, the Directors may order it to be cancelled 
and may issue a duplicate certificate in its place. 

8. CALLS 

8.1 Board may make Calls 

The Board may make Calls upon Members for money unpaid on their shares, 
whether on account of the nominal value of the shares or by way of premium subject 
to the terms on which the shares were issued.  The Board must give at least 14 clear 
days' written notice of the Call and the notice must specify the time or times and the 
place for payment.  The Directors may allow Calls to be paid by instalments and they 
may revoke or postpone a Call.  They may differentiate between the holders as to the 
amount of Calls to be paid and the times of payment. 

8.2 Responsibility of Members 

Each Member must pay the amount of the Call in accordance with the notice.  Joint 
holders of share are jointly and severally liable to pay Calls regarding that share. 

8.3 Time of Call 

A Call is deemed to have been made when the resolution of the Board authorising 
the Call was placed. 

8.4 Money Payable by Allotment Deemed Calls 

Any money which, according to the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable on 
allotment or on a fixed date or by instalments, whether on account of the nominal 
value of the share or by way of premium, is for the purposes of this Constitution 
deemed to be a Call duly made and notified and payable on the date on which the 
amount became payable. 

8.5 Payment of Calls in Advance 

The Board may receive from any Member willing to pay all or part of the money 
unpaid upon any of the shares held by that Member beyond the amount called up, 
either as a loan repayable or as a payment in advance of Calls.  The Board may 
authorise the payment by the Company of interest, as the Board determines on the 
amount of money paid in advance which exceeded the Call then made and due. 
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8.6 Evidence of Liability for Calls 

In an action to recover money due in respect of a Call, it is sufficient to prove that: 

(a) the name of the Member sued is entered in the Register as the holder or one 
of the holders of the shares in respect of which the debt accrued; 

(b) the resolution making the Call is duly recorded in the minute book; 

(c) notice of the Call was given to the Member sued in accordance with this 
Constitution; and 

(d) the payment was a prescribed term of the conditions on which the shares 
were allotted. 

9. FORFEITURE OF SHARES 

9.1 Notice Requiring Payment 

If a Member fails to pay a Call or instalment of a Call by the due date, the Board may, 
while any part of the Call is overdue and unpaid, serve a written notice on the 
Member demanding payment of the Call together with interest accrued and all 
expenses incurred by the Company as a result of non-payment.  The notice must 
specify a further day (at least 14 days after the date of giving notice) on or before 
which the Call, interest and expenses if any, must be paid.  It must also specify the 
place where payment is to be made.  The notice must state that, if payment is not 
made by the specified date at the appointed place the shares, in respect of which the 
money is payable, may be forfeited. 

9.2 Forfeiture 

If the requirements of the notice are not complied with, the shares in respect of which 
the notice has been given may be forfeited by a resolution of the Board before 
payment has been made.  The forfeiture includes all Dividends, interest and other 
moneys payable regarding the forfeited shares and not actually paid before forfeiture. 

9.3 Notice of Forfeiture 

Notice that a share has been forfeited must be given to the Member in whose name 
the share stood immediately before the forfeiture.  An entry of the forfeiture and the 
date must immediately be made in the Register.  No forfeiture is invalid because of 
failure to give notice or make the entry. 

9.4 Dealing with Forfeited Shares 

A forfeited share is deemed to be the property of the Company and the Board may 
sell, re-allot or otherwise deal with it as they think fit.  Forfeited shares may be re-
allotted with or without any money paid by the former holder being credited as paid 
up. 

9.5 Annulment of Forfeiture 

At any time before a sale of disposition, the forfeiture may be annulled on any terms 
which the Board thinks fit. 
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9.6 Liability of Former Member 

A person whose shares have been forfeited ceases to be a Member in respect of 
those shares but remains liable to pay and must immediately pay to the Company all 
moneys which at the time of forfeiture were payable by that person to the Company 
in respect of those shares together with interest at the prescribed rate and expenses 
until payment of all moneys in respect of the shares.  The Directors may enforce 
payment of these moneys as they think fit. 

9.7 Disposition of Forfeited Share 

The Company may receive the consideration, if any, given for the share on any sale, 
re-allotment or other disposition and the Board may appoint a person to execute a 
transfer of the shares sold.  The person to whom the share is sold, re-allotted or 
disposed of will, upon registration be deemed to be the holder of that share.  That 
person is not liable to pay any Calls, interest or other moneys owing in respect of that 
share before the purchase or allotment.  That person holds good title which is not 
affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, 
sale, re-allotment or disposal of the share. 

10. LIEN 

10.1 Company's Lien 

Subject to the Corporations Act 2001, the Company has a first and paramount lien on 
every share registered in the name of a Member (whether solely or jointly with 
others) for all money (whether presently payable or not) Called or otherwise payable 
in respect of that share and interest and expenses.  The lien extends to all Dividends 
declared regarding that share. 

10.2 Exemptions 

The Board may declare any share to be wholly or partially exempt from this clause as 
the Directors determine.  If the Company registers a transfer of a share on which it 
has a lien without giving the transferee notice of its claim that share is freed and 
discharged from the lien. 

10.3 Enforcement of Lien 

The Board may sell any shares on which the Company has a lien in any manner 
which they think fit.  Before selling the shares, the Board must give the relevant 
shareholder at least 14 days' written notice demanding payment of the overdue 
amount in respect of which the lien exists. 

10.4 Transfer and Title 

To give effect to the sale of shares sold pursuant to the Company's lien, the Board 
may authorise a person to execute an appropriate instrument of transfer of the 
shares.  The purchaser will be registered as shareholder and is not required to see to 
the application of the purchase money.  The purchaser's title is not affected by any 
irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings regarding the sale. 
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10.5 Proceeds of Sale 

The proceeds of sale of the share under this clause must be applied towards 
payment to the Company of the amount which is payable and overdue.  The residue, 
if any, is payable to the person or persons entitled to the shares at the date of the 
sale. 

11. TAXATION LIEN 

11.1 Member's Obligation to Repay 

If the Company is obliged to pay an amount to a government or taxing authority in 
respect of the shares registered in the name of a Member (whether solely or jointly) 
or in respect of any Dividend, bonus or other moneys payable to the Member or the 
Member's estate regarding that share, that Member must repay the Company the 
amount paid to the government or taxing authority plus interest at the prescribed rate 
from the date of payment to the date of repayment. 

11.2 Company's Lien 

The Company has a lien on all shares registered in the name of the Member and on 
all Dividends, bonus and other moneys payable to that Member in respect of the 
amount paid to the government or taxing authority plus interest. 

11.3 Indemnity 

The Member whose shares are the subject of the liability fully indemnifies the 
Company. 

11.4 Debt Due 

The Company may recover the amount plus interest on any unpaid part of it as a 
debt due from the Member. 

11.5 Refusal to Register Transfer 

The Company may refuse to register a transfer of shares to or from the Member until 
the whole of that amount and interest is repaid to the Company. 

12. STOCK 

12.1 Conversion of Shares 

The Company may by Ordinary Resolution convert any paid up shares into stock and 
reconvert any stock into paid up shares at any nominal value. 

12.2 Transfer of Stock 

The clauses relating to the transfer of shares apply to the transfer of stock to the 
extent that they are capable of application, subject to this clause.  The Board may fix 
the minimum amount of stock transferable and restrict or prohibit the transfer of 
fractions of that minimum.  The minimum must not exceed the nominal value of the 
shares from which the stock arose. 
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12.3 Rights and Liabilities of Stock Holders 

The holders of stock have the same rights and liabilities as if they held the shares 
from which the stock arose.  All clauses that apply to paid up shares apply to stock.  
References to shares and shareholders in this Constitution include stock and 
stockholders. 

13. TRANSFER OF SHARES 

13.1 Right to Transfer 

Members may transfer all or any of the shares registered in their names in 
accordance with this Constitution.  The transferor remains the holder of the shares 
until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register PROVIDED THAT no 
transfer of Shares to a non-Member will be permitted unless the Shares are first 
offered to the existing Members. 

13.2 Form of Transfer 

The instrument of transfer of a share must be in writing, in the standard form or other 
form approved by the Directors and must be signed by or on behalf of the transferor 
and the transferee. 

13.3 Corporate Shareholder 

If the shareholder is a corporation, the instrument of transfer must be executed under 
the common seal of the corporation duly attested in accordance with its Constitution. 

13.4 Registration of Transfer 

Every instrument of transfer must be duly stamped and lodged for registration at the 
Office accompanied by the relevant share certificate (or proof of its loss or 
destruction satisfactory to the Directors) and any other proof of the transferor's title 
as required by the Directors. 

13.5 Board Discretion 

The Board may refuse to register any transfer and are not obliged to give reasons for 
the refusal.  If the Board refuses to register an instrument of transfer, notice of the 
refusal must be given to the transferee within two months from the date the transfer 
was lodged in the Office. 

13.6 Retaining Instruments of Transfer 

Instruments of transfer that are registered must be retained by the Company for the 
minimum period required by law or longer if the Board so determines.  An instrument 
of transfer that the Board refuses to register must be returned if requested to the 
person who lodged it unless there has been fraud or alleged fraud. 

13.7 Closing the Register 

The Register may be closed as the Board thinks fit, subject to the Corporations Act 
2001, for no more than 30 days in any calendar year. 
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14. TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 

14.1 Title on Death of Member 

On the death of a Member the only persons recognised by the Company as entitled 
to the deceased Member's interest in the shares are the executors or administrators 
of the deceased Member or if the deceased Member was a joint holder, the survivor 
or survivors.  This clause does not release the estate of a deceased joint holder from 
liability regarding jointly held shares. 

14.2 Transmission 

Any person entitled to shares as executor or administrator of a deceased Member, or 
as guardian of an infant Member or as representative of a committee of a Member of 
unsound mind may be registered as a Member or may execute a transfer of those 
shares (subject to the restrictions on the right to transfer contained in this 
Constitution) upon producing sufficient evidence of title as the Board determines. 

14.3 Bankrupt Members 

Subject to the Bankruptcy Act 1966, a person entitled to the share of a bankrupt 
Member may, upon production of evidence of entitlement to the satisfaction of the 
Board, elect to become the registered shareholder and must notify the Board 
accordingly or may execute a transfer of the share. 

14.4 Board may refuse Registration 

The Board has the same right to refuse to register a person entitled under this clause 
as if the person was transferee in an ordinary transfer. 

15. GENERAL MEETINGS 

15.1 Annual General Meeting 

If required by the Corporations Act 2001, an annual general meeting of the Company 
must be held once in every calendar year in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001. 

15.2 Extraordinary General Meetings 

General meetings of the Company other than annual general meetings are called 
extraordinary general meetings. 

15.3 Convening General Meetings 

Any Director may convene a general meeting upon giving notice in accordance with 
this clause. 

15.4 Notice of General Meetings 

Notice of general meetings must: 

(a) be served on all Members entitled to receive notice at least 14 days before 
the day of the meeting (not including the day of service of the notice but 
including the day of the meeting); 
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(b) be in writing; 

(c) specify the place, day and hour of the meeting; 

(d) specify the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting but 
need not specify the general business of an annual general meeting; and 

(e) contain notice of Special Resolutions proposed to be passed at the general 
meeting in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. 

15.5 Omission to give Notice 

The accidental omission to give notice of a general meeting or the non-receipt of a 
notice of a general meeting by a Member does not invalidate the proceedings at the 
general meeting. 

15.6 Minute of Holding Company 

If a holding company holds all issued shares in the Company and the Corporations 
Act 2001 or this Constitution require that an act, matter, Ordinary Resolution or 
Special Resolution must be performed, transacted or passed by or at a general 
meeting, it is sufficient if a minute is signed by a representative of the holding 
company authorised under section 249(3) of the Corporations Act 2001 stating that 
the act, matter, Ordinary Resolution or Special Resolution has been performed, 
transacted or passed.  The act, matter, Ordinary Resolution or special Resolution will 
be deemed, for all purposes to have been duly performed, transacted or passed at a 
general meeting. 

15.7 Resolution without General Meeting 

Subject to the Corporations Act 2001, a minute of a resolution of the Company 
determined on without a general meeting, signed by each Member entitled to vote is 
as valid and effective as if that resolution was passed in general meeting. 

15.8 Deemed Resolution of Member 

If the Company has only one Member, only that Member's recording of the Member's 
decision to a particular effect will count as the passing by the Member of a resolution 
to that effect for purposes of this Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001. 

15.9 Validation of Meetings on Short Notice 

Notice of a general meeting may be called by shorter notice than is provided by this 
Constitution if all Members entitled to receive notice of the meeting agree to that 
short notice. 

15.10 Calling Class Meetings 

If the capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, the Board 
may, if they think fit, and must on the requisition of Members holding not less than 
one tenth of the issued shares of the relevant class, immediately convene a general 
meeting of the holders of shares of that class.  The provisions of the Corporations Act 
2001 and this Constitution regarding general meetings apply to meetings 
requisitioned under this clause. 
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16. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

16.1 Business of Annual General Meetings 

The ordinary business of an annual general meeting includes: 

(a) the receipt and consideration of accounts and reports of the Directors and 
auditors; 

(b) the election of Directors; 

(c) fixing the remuneration of the Directors and auditors; 

(d) declaring Dividends; and 

(e) any other business required by the Corporations Act 2001 to be transacted at 
annual general meetings. 

16.2 Special Business 

All business transacted at extraordinary general meetings and at annual general 
meetings other than the ordinary business of an annual general meeting is deemed 
special business. 

16.3 Quorum 

If the Company has only one Member, the quorum for a general meeting is that 
Member present in person or by proxy or if a Member is a company by company 
representative; otherwise, a quorum will be two Members present in person or by 
proxy or if a Member is a company by company representative.  No item of business 
may be transacted at a general meeting except for the election of a Chairperson 
unless the quorum is present at the commencement of the transaction of that item of 
business. 

16.4 Procedure if No Quorum 

If a quorum is not present after 15 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, 
the meeting will be dissolved, if it were convened by the Members.  If the meeting 
was convened by a Director, the meeting will be adjourned to the same time and 
place in the following week.  If at the adjourned meeting, no quorum is present, the 
meeting will be dissolved. 

16.5 Chairperson 

The chairperson of Directors may take the chair at every general meeting.  If there is 
no chairperson of Directors of if he or she is not present at the time appointed for the 
meeting or is unwilling to take the chair the Members present may choose another 
Director to be chairperson of the meeting. 

16.6 Adjournment of General Meetings 

The chairperson of a general meeting may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn 
the meeting.  If the meeting is adjourned for more than 30 days, notice of the 
adjournment must be given to all Members entitled to receive notice of general 
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meetings.  No business may be transacted at the adjourned meeting except the 
unfinished business of the original business of which notice was given. 

17. VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

17.1 Show of Hands 

Every question put to a general meeting is to be decided by a show of hands unless 
a poll is duly demanded.  The chairperson of a meeting may declare that a resolution 
has, on a show of hands, been carried, carried unanimously, carried by a particular 
majority or lost.  The entry to this effect in the minute book is conclusive evidence of 
the fact. 

17.2 Demanding a Poll 

A poll may be demanded before or on the declaration of the result of a show of hands 
by: 

(a) the chairperson of the meeting; 

(b) at least two Members present in person or by proxy; 

(c) a Member present in person or by proxy representing not less than one tenth 
of the total voting rights of all Members entitled to vote at the meeting; or 

(d) a Member holding voting shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid 
up equal to not less than one tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares 
carrying voting rights. 

17.3 Taking a Poll 

If a poll is duly demanded, it must be taken as and when the chairperson of the 
meeting directs.  A poll demanded on the election of a chairperson of the meeting or 
on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately.  The result of a poll will be 
the resolution of the meeting.  The demand for a poll may be withdrawn. 

17.4 Casting Vote 

Questions will be decided by a simple majority of votes except for Special 
Resolutions or other resolutions that must be passed by a majority other than a 
simple majority in accordance with the Corporation Law.  If there is an equality of 
votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll the Chairperson of the meeting will 
not have a casting vote. 

17.5 Members Entitlement to Vote 

Votes may be given personally or by proxy, attorney or company representative duly 
appointed.  Every Member present is entitled subject to any rights or restrictions 
attached to any shares to one vote on a show of hands and if a poll is taken one vote 
for each share held by that Member.  A Member may appoint a proxy, attorney or 
company representative (who need not be a Member) to attend and vote at general 
meetings on behalf of the original Member.  That proxy, attorney or company 
representative is not entitled to vote at the general meeting if the principal is present 
and votes at that general meeting.  The chairperson of the meeting may decide 
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questions relating to the qualification of any voter and the decision is final and 
binding. 

17.6 Votes by Legal Representative 

A person entitled to be registered as the holder of shares of a deceased, infant or 
bankrupt Member or of a Member of unsound mind may vote at general meetings as 
the Member.  If that person has not previously satisfied the Directors that he or she is 
entitled to vote, this must be done at least 48 hours before the meeting at which the 
person wishes to vote. 

17.7 Votes by Joint Holders 

If two or more persons are registered as joint holders of a share, only one may vote 
at the general meeting.  If more than one joint holder is present at the general 
meeting, whether personally or by proxy, attorney or representative, the joint holder 
whose name stands first on the register is entitled to vote.  Several executors or 
administrators of a deceased Member are deemed to be joint holders of the shares of 
the deceased Member. 

17.8 Disqualification by Non Payment of Calls 

Members who have not paid Calls which are due and payable are disqualified from 
attending general meetings and from voting whether personally or by proxy, attorney 
or representative. 

17.9 Appointment of Proxies, Attorneys and Representatives 

A Member may appoint any person as proxy or attorney and if the Member is a 
corporation, may appoint a representative to attend and vote at meetings on behalf of 
the original Members. 

17.10 Instruments of Proxy 

Instruments of proxy, powers of attorney and minutes of resolutions appointing 
representatives must be in the common form or other form acceptable to the 
Directors.  The instrument of proxy, power of attorney and minutes of resolutions 
must be deposited at the Office at least 24 hours before the time of holding the 
meeting at which the proxy or attorney or representative proposed to vote. 

17.11 Authority of Proxy 

The appointment of a proxy, attorney or representative is deemed to confer authority 
to demand or join in demanding a poll.  A vote given by a proxy, attorney or 
representative is valid regardless of the prior death or liquidation of the principal or 
revocation of the proxy or transfer of the shares in respect of which the vote is given 
if no written indication of the death liquidation revocation or transfer is received at the 
Office before the meeting. 

18. DIRECTORS 

18.1 Number of Directors 

The number of Directors will not be more than ten in number and may be any larger 
number as the Directors may from time to time determine. 
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18.1A Appointment of Directors by Holding Company 

(a) Where the Company is the wholly owned subsidiary of another company 
(Holding Company), the Holding Company may only appoint or remove a 
Director by written notice served on the Company in accordance with clause 
18.1A(b). 

(b) Where the company has a Holding Company:  

(i) the Holding Company must appoint all the directors of the Holding 
Company (each, a Holding Company Director) as Directors of the 
Company, subject only to receipt of a consent to act as director of the 
Company from each Holding Company Director; and 

(ii) a person ceases to be eligible to act as a Director of the Company if 
they cease to be a Holding Company Director in which case that 
person must immediately resign as Director or, if that person fails to 
resign, the Holding Company must remove that Director. 

18.2 Share Qualifications 

The Directors are not required to have any share qualification. 

18.3 Natural Persons 

All Directors of the Company will be natural persons. 

18.4 Vacation of Office 

The office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director: 

(a) becomes an insolvent under administration or makes any arrangement with 
his or her creditors; 

(b) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be 
dealt with under any law relating to mental health; 

(c) resigns, retires or is removed from the office of Director; or 

(d) ceases to be or is prohibited to be a Director pursuant to the Corporations Act 
2001 or this Constitution. 

18.5 Other Offices 

A Director may hold any other office in the Company in addition to the Directorship 
on any terms as to tenure and remuneration and otherwise as determined by the 
Directors. 

18.6 Appointment by Director's Personal Representative 

If a person who is the only Director and the only Member of the Company: 

(a) dies; or 

(b) cannot manage the Company because of the person's mental incapacity; 
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and a personal representative or trustee is appointed to administer the person's 
estate or property, the personal representative or trustee may appoint a person as 
the Director of the Company. 

18.7 Appointment by Trustee in Bankruptcy 

If a person is the only Director and the only Member of the Company and: 

(a) the office of the Director is vacated under paragraph 224(1)(c) of the 
Corporations Act 2001 because of the bankruptcy of the Director; 

(b) a trustee in bankruptcy is appointed to the person's property, the trustee may 
appoint a person as the Director of the Company. 

A person who has the power of appointment under sub-clauses 18.7(a) and (b) may 
appoint themselves as Director. 

19. INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

The Directors may appoint a person to hold office as an independent Director upon 
such terms and conditions and for such term as the Directors will determine. 

20. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS 

20.1 Remuneration and Expenses 

Each Director is entitled to remuneration for his or her services as the Directors 
determine to be paid out of the funds of the Company.  Directors are also entitled to 
be paid out of the funds of the Company, all reasonable expenses incurred in 
connection with the business of the Company as approved by the Directors. 

20.2 Special Remuneration 

If a Director performs services for the Company which, in the opinion of the Directors 
exceed the ordinary duties of a Director, the Directors may pay special remuneration 
from the funds of the Company to that Director, either instead of or in addition to the 
remuneration already provided for. 

21. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS 

21.1 Directors' Contracts 

Subject to the Corporations Act 2001 and to this Constitution: 

(a) Directors are not disqualified from entering into a contract or arrangement 
with the Company or from becoming or remaining a director of another 
company which has contracts with the Company; 

(b) contracts or arrangements involving the Company, cannot be avoided on the 
basis that a Director has an interest in the contract or arrangement; 

(c) Directors are not liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by 
them as a result of being interested in the contract or arrangement; and 
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(d) any Director may attest the affixing of the seal of the Company to a contract 
whether or not that Director is interested in that contract. 

21.2 Declaration of Interest 

Every Director who has a direct or indirect interest in a contract or arrangement, and 
every Director who holds any office or possesses any property which may directly or 
indirectly create a conflict with that Director's duties or interest, must, before voting, 
declare the fact and the nature, character and extent of the conflict or potential 
conflict as required by the Corporations Act 2001. 

21.3 Secretary to Record Declarations 

The Secretary must record in the minutes any declaration made by a Director in 
accordance with this clause. 

22. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

22.1 Appointment of Chief Executive Officer 

The Directors may appoint one or more Directors to be Chief Executive Officer or 
Chief Executive Officers for a limited or unlimited term as determined by the 
Directors. 

22.2 Retirement or Removal of Chief Executive Officer 

A Chief Executive Officer may be suspended, removed or dismissed by the Directors 
and another Chief Executive Officer appointed in his or her place.  The clauses 
relating to the resignation and removal of Directors also apply to Chief Executive 
Officers.  The Chief Executive Officer ceases to hold that office immediately upon 
him or her ceasing to be a Director. 

22.3 Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer 

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer must be determined by the 
Directors.  The remuneration may be by way of salary, commission or profits or partly 
in one form and partly in another but must not be by way of commission on or 
percentage of turnover. 

22.4 Powers of Chief Executive Officer 

The Directors may, as they think fit, entrust to and confer on the Chief Executive 
Officer any of the powers and duties exercisable by the Directors, upon such terms 
and conditions as the Directors think fit.  The Directors may revoke, withdraw or vary 
all or any of the powers and duties entrusted to and conferred on the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

23. ALTERNATE DIRECTORS 

23.1 Appointment of Alternate Director 

Each Director may appoint any person to act as alternate Director in his or her place 
for any period which the Director thinks fit.  The alternate Director may be removed or 
suspended from office by the Director.  The instrument appointing or removing an 
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alternate Director must be in writing duly executed by the Director and served on the 
Company. 

23.2 Status of Alternate Director 

An alternate Director: 

(a) is competent to exercise all power or duties of the Director who appointed him 
or her; 

(b) is entitled to receive notice of all Directors' meetings and if the appointor is 
not present at a meeting, the alternate Director may attend and vote at that 
meeting; 

(c) ceases to hold office immediately upon the appointor ceasing to be a Director; 
and 

(d) is not entitled to remuneration from the Company. 

24. DIRECTORS' POWERS 

24.1 Management of Business of Company 

The management and control of the business and affairs of the Company is vested in 
the Directors.  The Directors may exercise all powers and all things authorised by 
section 161 of the Corporations Act 2001 unless this Constitution or the Corporations 
Act 2001 require that those powers and things be done by the Company in general 
meeting.  The Directors must act in accordance with this Constitution, the 
Corporations Act 2001 and regulations made by the Company in general meeting.  
Regulations made by the Company in general meeting cannot invalidate an earlier 
action or decision of the Directors which would have been valid if the regulation had 
not been made. 

24.2 Directors' Borrowing Powers 

The Directors may exercise all of the powers of the Company to borrow money, to 
mortgage or charge all or part of the Company's undertaking, assets and uncalled 
capital and to issue Debentures and give securities for a debt, guarantee or 
obligation of the Company or of any other person. 

24.3 Appointment of Attorneys 

The Board may appoint any person or persons to be the attorney or attorneys of the 
Company to do anything the Company may do with the powers and subject to the 
conditions as the Directors think fit. 

24.4 Appointment of Committees 

The Board may appoint committees consisting of two or more Directors and delegate 
any of its powers to those committees as they think fit.  Clauses regulating Directors' 
meetings apply to the extent that they are applicable to committee meetings. 
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24.5 Exercise of Powers outside Victoria 

The Board may exercise all of the powers of the Company in relation to the seal of 
the Company for use outside Victoria and branch registers. 

25. PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 

25.1 Chairperson of Directors 

The Directors may elect one of the Directors as chairperson of the Board who may 
chair all Board meetings. 

25.2 Meetings 

The Directors may meet together, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as 
they think fit.  Any Director may convene a Board meeting. 

25.3 Quorum 

Three Directors entitled to vote constitutes a quorum at Board meetings unless the 
Board otherwise determines. 

25.4 Voting 

Questions arising at Board meetings must be decided by a majority of votes.  If there 
is an equality of votes, the chairperson of the meeting has a second or casting vote.  
Each Director or alternate Director present in person or by proxy and eligible to vote 
is entitled to one vote. 

25.5 Decisions of Board 

At any meeting of the Board, all matters will be decided by a simple majority of all 
Directors present and entitled to vote. 

25.6 Board Meetings by Instantaneous Communication Device 

The terms of this Constitution in relation to Board meetings apply to meetings 
involving the contemporaneous linking of Directors by radio, telephone or other audio 
or audiovisual device if: 

(a) all Directors including alternate Directors who are entitled to receive notice of 
a meeting are given notice; 

(b) each Director has access to and is linked to the other Directors by the 
relevant instantaneous communication device; 

(c) each Director taking part in the meeting is able to hear each of the other 
Directors taking part in the meeting; and 

(d) the fact that each Director is taking part must be known to each other Director 
taking part. 

Each Director participating in a meeting involving an instantaneous communication 
device will be deemed to be present and form part of the quorum until he or she has 
expressly advised the meeting that he or she is ceasing to participate.  A minute of 
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the proceedings of such a meeting signed by the chairperson of the meeting or 
Secretary is sufficient evidence that proper formalities were observed. 

25.7 Circular Resolution without Meeting 

Subject to the Corporations Act 2001, a minute of a resolution of the Company 
determined on without a meeting, which is signed by a majority of Directors eligible 
and entitled to vote, is as valid and effective as if that resolution was passed in a 
meeting on the day on which the resolution was last signed by a Director. 

25.8 Deemed Resolution of a Director 

If the Company has only one Director, only that Director's recording of the Director's 
decision to a particular effect will count as the passing by the Director of a resolution 
to that effect for purposes of this Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001. 

25.9 Defect in Appointment 

All acts done at Board meetings or committee meetings are valid and effective even if 
it is later realised that there was defect in the appointment of Director or of a person 
acting as Director or if any of them were disqualified or not entitled to vote. 

25.10 Directors may act if Vacancy 

The Directors or sole Director may act even if there is a vacancy on the Board.  If the 
number of Directors is below the minimum number or below a quorum, the continuing 
Directors or Director may only act to increase the number of Directors to the 
minimum number or to convene a general meeting of the Company or of any class of 
shareholders. 

26. SECRETARY 

The Directors may appoint any person or persons to be or act as Secretary or 
Secretaries for the term upon the conditions and with the remuneration as they think 
fit.  The Directors may remove a Secretary from office at any time. 

27. MINUTES 

27.1 Secretary to Enter Minutes 

The Secretary must cause minutes to be entered in the minute book provided by the 
Company within one month after the relevant meeting of: 

(a) all appointments of officers; 

(b) the names of all persons present at each Board meeting and committee 
meeting; 

(c) the resolutions and proceedings of all meetings of the Company and of all 
Board meetings and committee meetings; and 

(d) all declarations made or notices given by a Director of his or her interest in a 
contract or proposed contract and of his or her office or property as a result of 
which a conflict of duty or interest may arise. 
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27.2 Minutes to be Signed 

Minutes of a meeting signed by the chairperson of that meeting or of the next 
succeeding meeting will be prima facie evidence of the matters stated in those 
minutes. 

27.3 Minute Book 

The books containing the minutes of general meetings must be kept at the Office or 
principal place of business of the Company and made available for inspection by 
Members. 

28. STATUTORY REGISTERS 

The Company must keep the following registers as required by the Directors or by 
the Corporations Act 2001: 

(a) register of Members; 

(b) register of Debenture holders; 

(c) register of charges; 

(d) register of Directors' interests; 

(e) register of Directors, secretaries and other officers; 

(f) register of substantial shareholders; and 

(g) register of options to take up unissued shares 

29. COMPANY SEAL 

29.1 Custody 

If the Board determines to adopt the use of a seal for the purpose of execution of 
documents by the Company, the Board must provide for the safe custody of the 
Company seal. 

29.2 Use of Seal 

The use of the Company seal, if any, must be authorised by the Board.  Each 
instrument to which the seal is affixed must be signed by at least one Director and 
countersigned by another Director or by the Secretary or other person authorised by 
the Director for that purpose. 

30. DIVIDENDS 

The Board may in its absolute discretion declare a Dividend. 
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31. ACCOUNTS 

31.1 Accounting Records 

The Board must ensure that the Company keeps proper books of account in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and accepted accounting standards.  The 
books of account must be kept at the Office or other place as the Board thinks fit. 

31.2 Statutory Accounts 

The Board must cause to be made out for each financial year of the Company a profit 
and loss account that gives a true and fair view of the profit or loss of the Company 
for that financial year and a balance sheet that gives a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Company for that financial year. 

31.3 Inspection of Books 

The accounting records of the Company must be open to inspection by the Directors.  
Members who are not Directors are not entitled to inspect accounting records unless 
authorised by statute, the Board or the Company in general meeting. 

31.4 Retention of Books 

The Company must retain all accounting records for the minimum period required by 
law or longer if the Board determines. 

32. CHEQUES 

All cheques, bills of exchange and promissory notes must be signed, drawn, 
accepted, made or endorsed for and on behalf of the Company as the Board 
determines. 

33. AUDITORS 

The auditor or auditors must be appointed and may be removed and their 
remuneration, rights and duties must be regulated in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

34. NOTICES 

34.1 Service 

The Company may serve a notice on a Member: 

(a) by leaving it at the Member's registered address; 

(b) by posting it by pre-paid ordinary mail to the Member's registered address: 

(i) if the registered address is outside Australia, to the address within 
Australia given by the Member to the Company as the address for 
service of notices;  or 

(ii) if the Member is deceased or bankrupt or otherwise under a legal 
disability to the address given to the Company by the person entitled 
under the clause dealing with transmission of shares; or 
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(c) by facsimile to the Member's number for service as notified by the Member to 
the Company. 

34.2 Time of Service 

Service given: 

(a) by post is deemed received if posted within Australia to an Australian address 
two business days after posting; 

(b) by facsimile, is deemed received at the time indicated on the transmission 
report produced by the sender's facsimile machine indicating that the 
facsimile was sent in its entirety to the addressee" address; 

(c) after 6.00 pm in the place of receipt or in a day which is not a business day is 
deemed received at 9.00 am on the next business day. 

34.3 Notice to Joint Holders 

Notices may be served on joint shareholders by serving notice on the joint holder 
named first in the Register in respect of the share. 

34.4 Entitlement to Receive Notice of General Meetings 

Notice of every general meeting must be given to every Member having a registered 
address or address for service of notices within Victoria, every person entitled to a 
share as a result of death or bankruptcy of a Member and the auditor of the 
Company. 

35. INDEMNITY 

(a) Every Director and other officer of the Company is entitled to be indemnified 
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which may be 
incurred as a result of executing his or her office. 

(b) No Director or other officer of the Company is liable for any loss or damage 
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his or her office. 

(c) The Company may, if it sees fit and to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Act 2001, exempt or indemnify a Director or other officer of the 
Company: 

(i) against liability to third parties; 

(ii) in defending any criminal or civil proceedings arising out of their 
conduct as an officer of the Company. 

(d) This indemnity and exemption may, where appropriate, be offered directly or 
by means of the Company insuring the officer against liability, as the Directors 
consider appropriate, subject to the Corporations Act 2001. 
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36. DEADLOCK AND ARBITRATION 

36.1 Deadlock 

If there is an equality of votes for and against any resolution at a Board meeting, that 
resolution is to be put to a meeting of the Company convened for the purpose.  If 
there is an equality of votes for and against a resolution at a meeting of Members of 
the Company then whether that resolution involves an issue of law, fact or policy or 
management of the Company or other matter concerning the affairs of the Company, 
it is to be regarded as a deadlock. 

36.2 Arbitration 

In the event of a deadlock, the Company must submit the matter to two arbitrators, 
one of whom is to be nominated by the shareholders voting for the resolution and 
one by the shareholders voting against the resolution.  If the arbitrators cannot agree 
as to how the resolution should be determined, the Board will refer the matter to 
arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Act 1986, South Australia. 

37. WINDING UP 

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator must test the whole or any part of any 
property vested in the Company in a new trustee upon such trusts identical to those 
existing prior to the liquidation of the Company. 

 

















































































Certificate of Registration 
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This is to certify that 

INDUSTRY FUNDS MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 

Australian Company Number 107 247 727 

is a registered company under the Corporations Act 2001 and 
is taken to be registered in Victoria. 

The company is limited by shares. 

The company is a proprietary company. 

The day of commencement of registration is 
the eighteenth day of December 2003. 

Issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
on this eighteenth day of December, 2003. 

David Knott 
Chairman 















 

ANEXO 12 

Acuerdos suscritos por Oferente con Rioja Acquisition S.à r.l. y GIP III Canary 1 S.à r.l., 

junto con traducciones juradas al castellano de ambos documentos 
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ANEXO 13 

Certificado de la información financiera individual no auditada del Oferente a fecha 28 de 

junio de 2021 













 

ANEXO 14 

Copia de los estados financieros auditados de IFM Global Infrastructure Fund 
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

a.

b.

TRUSTEE'S DECLARATION

These financial statements have been prepared to satisfy Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited’s (the

“Trustee”) reporting requirements under the Unit Trust Deed constituting IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (the

“Fund”).

It is hereby declared on behalf of the Trustee that:

in the Trustee’s opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Fund will be able to pay its debts

as and when they become due and payable; and

in the Trustee’s opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto have been prepared and fairly

presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee of IFM Global 
Infrastructure Fund (A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (the “Fund”), which comprises the statement of assets and 
liabilities, including the schedule of investments, as at December 31, 2020, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets 
attributable to unit holders, and cash flows for the year then ended (all expressed in United States dollars), notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the Fund’s financial position as at 
December 31, 2020, and its financial performance, changes in its net assets attributable to unit holders and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Responsibilities of the Trustee for the Financial Statements  

The Trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for such internal control as the Trustee determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustee is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustee either 
intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The Trustee is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial 
statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management.



• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

March 12, 2021 



IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at December 31, 2020

As at As at

December 31 December 31

Notes 2020 2019

$ $

ASSETS:

Investments, at fair value 3 31,602,355,862 30,027,327,508

Derivative assets 3 1,756,815,394 569,487,339

Cash and cash equivalents 767,017,179 102,770,546

Distributions receivable 1,544,785,366 1,005,264,341

Other assets 37,727,016 30,506,227

Total assets 35,708,700,817 31,735,355,961

LIABILITIES:

Performance fees payable                 XXX
Management fees payable               XXX
Professional fees payable 233,560

Derivative liabilities 3 576,145,106

Other accrued expenses 599,104

Distributions payable 641,565,119

XXX
XXX 

 233,560 
505,410,970 

641,307 
2,462,708,482

Total liabilities 1,391,684,403 3,352,113,442

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS 34,317,016,414 28,383,242,519

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised

for issue by the Trustee on the date the Trustee's declaration was signed.
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

2020 2019

$ $

INVESTMENT INCOME:

Trust distribution income            966,150,542 885,773,764

Less : Withholding Tax            (12,116,385) (6,953,042) 

Interest 686,063 5,209,325

Other income 11,626,209 6,678,736

Total investment income 966,346,429 890,708,783

EXPENSES:

Performance fees XXX            XXX 

Management fees XXX            XXX 

Loan interest 4,123,028 - 

Amortization of debt issue costs 3,915,612 3,920,776 

Professional fees 22,838,048 22,933,215 

Trustee fees 20,000 20,000 

Insurance 14,148,383 10,080,784 

Other 15,984,862 17,537,596

Total expenses 233,011,199 418,472,285

NET INVESTMENT INCOME 733,335,230 472,236,498

 Net realized loss from:

Derivative contracts (237,872,764)        (177,607,893)        

Investments held at fair value 1,090,321 352,914

Foreign currency transactions (18,004,384)           (84,696,415)           

Net realized loss (254,786,827)        (261,951,394)        

 Net unrealized gain on:

Derivative contracts 1,119,328,897 59,544,911

Investments held at fair value and foreign currency translations 616,114,464 3,638,880,624

Net change in unrealized gain 1,735,443,361 3,698,425,535

1,480,656,534 3,436,474,141

2,213,991,764 3,908,710,639

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised

for issue by the Trustee on the date the Trustee's declaration was signed.

NET REALIZED AND UNREALIZED GAIN FROM INVESTMENTS 

HELD AT FAIR VALUE AND FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS

Net realized and unrealized gain from investments and foreign 

currency translations

NET INCREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT 

HOLDERS RESULTING FROM OPERATIONS
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

Notes 2020 2019

$ $

Net investment income 733,335,230 472,236,498

(254,786,827)       (261,951,394)       

1,735,443,361 3,698,425,535

2,213,991,764 3,908,710,639

Applications 7        6,417,785,648        9,923,259,691 

Redemptions 7      (1,290,626,259)      (1,370,833,078)

Increase from capital transactions 5,127,159,389 8,552,426,613

7,341,151,153 12,461,137,252

7 (1,407,377,258)    (4,779,695,130)    

28,383,242,519 20,701,800,397

34,317,016,414 28,383,242,519

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised 

for issue by the Trustee on the date the Trustee's declaration was signed.

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS, 

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Net increase in net assets attributable to unitholders

resulting  from operations

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS, 

END OF THE YEAR

NET INCREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

UNIT HOLDERS

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS RESULTING FROM OPERATIONS:

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS:

DISTRIBUTIONS

Net realized loss from investments and derivatives 

held at fair value and foreign currency

Net unrealized gain from investments held at fair value 

and foreign currency
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

Notes 2020 2019

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

2,213,991,764 3,908,710,639

Payments for investments held at fair value (3,658,105,181)          (7,614,296,407)

Payments for derivatives (35,275,134)                                              - 

Payments for settlement of derivative contracts (199,862,652)                 (205,917,758)

Return of capital adjustments            483,139,353         1,203,483,376 

Proceeds from sale of investments held at fair value         2,073,100,000            525,611,067 

Realized loss from investments held at fair value            236,782,443            177,254,979 

Realized loss from foreign currency transactions               18,004,384               84,696,414 

     (1,735,443,361)      (3,698,425,535)

Change in distributions receivable          (539,521,025)          (277,775,611)

Change in other assets               (7,220,789)               (3,492,960)

Change in payables          (210,019,812) 68,695,490

           100,847,902                        (9,289)

Net cash used in operating activities (1,259,582,108)     (5,831,465,595)                                                             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                                                         

Capital contributions by unitholders         2,399,772,265         5,771,196,561 

Redemptions by unitholders          (350,265,774)          (124,011,249)

Distributions paid          (150,867,723)          (239,246,319)

Proceeds from loans 4            500,000,000                                    - 

Repayment of loans 4          (500,000,000)                                    - 

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,898,638,768 5,407,938,993

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS            639,056,660 (423,526,602)        

              25,189,973               (3,050,998)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR * 102,770,546 529,348,146

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR * 767,017,179 102,770,546

Capital contributions reinvested from distributions 3,077,652,898 2,905,241,301

*  The Fund did not hold any restricted cash during the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 - Nil).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised 

for issue by the Trustee on the date the Trustee's declaration was signed.

Net increase in net assets attributable to unitholders resulting 

from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in net assets 

attributable to unitholders resulting from operations to 

net cash used in operating activities:

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash held in

foreign currencies

Unrealized gains on investments held at fair value and foreign 

currency translations

Effects of exchange rate changes on distributions receivable in 

foreign currencies 
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

1.1 Nature of operations

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of presentation

 

2.2 Use of estimates

IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (the “Fund”) is registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the Cayman Islands.

The Fund is a multi-series unit trust established under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands. The Fund

commenced operations on April 11, 2008. Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee”) is the

Trustee of the Fund. The board of directors of the Trustee consists of four directors. The directors of the

Trustee have complete authority over the operations and management of the Fund. Certain operations of the

Fund, however, have been delegated by the Trustee to IFM Investors Pty Ltd (the “Advisor”). 

The Fund is the master fund in a master-feeder structure. The Fund receives capital from several feeder

vehicles, which are incorporated as Limited Partnerships or Managed Investment Schemes, collectively

referred to as (“Feeders”), that invests in the pool of assets held by the Fund. The Feeders make investments

by acquiring different classes of units in the Fund, as disclosed in Note 7.

The investment objective of the Fund is to acquire and maintain a diversified portfolio of global infrastructure

investments (with strong market positions, predictable regulatory environments, high barriers to entry,

limited demand elasticity and long lives) that realizes a 10% annual return over the long term (10+ years),

which will range between 8%-12% per annum depending on the stage of the market cycle.

The Fund will invest in a diversified portfolio of global infrastructure assets. Infrastructure consists of

physical facilities for the delivery, generation and transportation of energy, information, people, products and

real property from which services to the community or government are delivered. The Fund intends to make

investments and hold them as long term investments. 

The target investment sub-sectors are: electricity generation, transmission and distribution including

renewable energy, gas transmission, distribution, processing and storage, toll roads, rail infrastructure,

seaports, airports, marine terminals, steam and hot air supply, water and waste water, pipelines and related

infrastructure, telecommunications infrastructure, social infrastructure with principally government backed

cash flows.

The Fund is considered as an investment company as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 946 Financial Services - Investment Companies (ASC

946). These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”), using the specialized guidance within ASC 946, and are

expressed in United States dollars. Comparative information is reclassified where appropriate to enhance

comparability.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in net assets from operations during the

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the fair value

of investments as described in the following paragraphs.

The key estimate used in preparing the financial statements of the Fund is the value of its investments in

infrastructure assets. The valuation of these assets, along with their consideration of the impacts of COVID-19

is disclosed in Note 3.
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

2.3 Investment and derivatives valuation

2.4 Foreign currency transactions

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

The Fund did not hold any restricted cash as at December 31, 2020 (2019: Nil).

2.6 Income recognition and security transactions

2.7 Income taxes

As more fully described in Notes 3.2 to the financial statements, all investments and derivatives are recorded

at their estimated fair value.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollar amounts at closing

rates of exchange at the date of valuation with unrealized gains and losses reflected in the statement of

operations. Transactions during the year were translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the respective

dates of the transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a maturity date of ninety days or

less when acquired. The Fund held a total cash and cash equivalents balance of $767,017,179 (2019:

$102,770,546) in an interest bearing account at year end.  

Restricted cash is subject to a legal or contractual restriction by third parties as well as a restriction as to

withdrawal or use, including restrictions that require the funds to be used for a specified purpose and

restrictions that limit the purpose for which the funds can be used.

Payments and receipts relating to the purchase and sale of investment securities are classified as cash flows

from operating activities, as investing in these securities and the income generated from these securities

represent the Fund's main income generating activity.

The Fund is not subject to any income, withholding or capital gains taxes in the Cayman Islands. However,

the Fund is a foreign withholding agent for US taxes since January 1, 2013 to allow better administration of

US withholding tax payment and calculation for the Fund and its investors. Should the tax regime of the

Cayman Islands change in the future, the Fund has a certificate from the Cayman Islands government

providing the same current tax requirements for the Fund for 50 years from the date of certificate.

Trust Distribution income comprises interest income, distribution income and dividend income, gross of

withholding tax. Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis and distribution income is recognized as

income on the date it is quoted ex-distribution. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Realized

gains and losses from investment vehicles are calculated on the identified cost basis.  

The Fund has invested in numerous jurisdictions and is therefore subject to varying policies and statutory

time limitations with respect to examination of tax positions. Management continually evaluates expiring

statutes of limitations, audits proposed settlements, changes in tax law and new authoritative rulings. The

Fund recognizes interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions if required. The Fund had no

unrealized tax benefits at December 31, 2020 (2019: Nil).
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES

3.1 Fair value measurements

Level 1 

Level 2

• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;

• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active;

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and

• 

Level 3

Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means.

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value

to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which

there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Unobservable inputs reflect the reporting entity's own assumptions about the assumptions that

market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk).

Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances,

which might include the reporting entity's own data. However, market participant assumptions

cannot be ignored and, accordingly, the reporting entity's own data used to develop unobservable

inputs are adjusted if information is reasonably available without undue cost and effort that

indicates that market participants would use different assumptions.

Valuation techniques used to measure fair value shall maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize

the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to

measure fair value into three broad levels, as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting

entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. An active market for the asset or liability

is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and

volume to provide information on an ongoing basis.

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly. If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a

Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 2

inputs include the following;

US GAAP define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). Fair value is a

market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions market participants would

use in pricing the asset or liability. As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value

measurements, a fair value hierarchy distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed

based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs) and (2)

the reporting entity's own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed based on the best

information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). 
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.1 Fair Value Measurement (Cont'd)

(a) Recognised fair value measurements

Investments, at fair value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
December 31, 2020 $ $ $ $

Equity Instruments 1,048,151,739 1,089,252,405 27,422,046,814 29,559,450,958

Debt Instruments                                -                                - 2,042,904,904 2,042,904,904

Derivative assets                                - 1,756,815,394                                - 1,756,815,394

Derivative liabilities                                - (576,145,106)                                    - (576,145,106)     
Total Investments, at fair value 1,048,151,739 2,269,922,693 29,464,951,718 32,783,026,150

December 31, 2019

Equity Instruments 1,283,657,329 228,087,019 26,540,791,958 28,052,536,306

Debt Instruments                                -                                - 1,974,791,202 1,974,791,202

Derivative assets                                - 569,487,339                                - 569,487,339

Derivative liabilities                                - (505,410,970)                                    - (505,410,970)     
Total Investments, at fair value 1,283,657,329 292,163,388 28,515,583,160 30,091,403,877

Investments classified as Level 1

• 

Investments classified as Level 2

• 

• 

(b) Transfers between levels

Transfers into Level 3, during the year ended December 31, 2020

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Transfers into Level 3, during the year ended December 31, 2019

At December 31, 2020, all of the Fund’s investments were valued using Level 3 inputs, with the exception of

the investments listed above (2019 - same).

Flughafen Wien AG (“Vienna Airport”), which has been valued using the closing share price on the Vienna

Stock Exchange as at December 31, 2020, which is a Level 1 input (2019 - same).

Derivatives, which includes foreign currency forwards and foreign currency option contracts. These

derivative contracts are not traded in an active market and were valued using Level 2 inputs. 

The Fund's investment in IFM USD Liquidity Fund, which is a unit trust not traded in an active market and

were valued using the unit prices issued by the investment manager, which is a Level 2 input.

The following table presents the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value

as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

The Fund recognises transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the

reporting period based on the fair values presented in the previous reporting period. 

GCT Global Container Terminals was valued using acquisition cost (Level 2 inputs) as at December 31, 2018.

Fair value of this asset as at December 31 2019 was based on the fair value determined by an independent

valuer using Level 3 inputs. Therefore, it has been moved from Level 2 to Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.1 Fair Value Measurement (Cont'd)

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

2020 2019

$ $

Equity Instruments

Opening balance of investments held at fair value   26,540,791,958   17,219,520,582 

Net realized and unrealized gains on investments held at fair value         751,080,314      3,503,450,059 

Purchases of investment held at fair value         590,960,435      7,127,225,758 

Sales of investment held at fair value                                -       (578,522,202)

Return of capital       (460,785,893)   (1,197,837,907)

Transfers into Level 3 (Refer to Note 3.1 (b))                                -         466,955,668 

Closing balance of investments held at fair value 27,422,046,814 26,540,791,958

Debt Instruments

Opening balance of investments held at fair value      1,974,791,202      1,415,188,574 

Net realized and unrealized gains on investments held at fair value         (60,854,294)            (3,726,576)

Purchases of investment held at fair value         132,699,604         432,350,550 

Sales of investment held at fair value                                -       (120,050,713)

Return of capital            (3,731,608)         (20,281,129)

Transfers into Level 3 (Refer to Note 3.1 (b))                                -         271,310,496 

Closing balance of investments held at fair value 2,042,904,904 1,974,791,202

The following table presents the movement in Level 3 instruments for the year ended December 31, 2020 and

December 31, 2019 by class of financial instrument.
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IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.1 Fair value measurement (Cont'd)

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Cont'd)

$1,974,791,202
Discount rate

Discounted 

Cash Flow

2020:

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Fund’s equity instruments and

debt instruments are cash flow forecasts and discount rates. The Fund determines the fair value for these

securities by engaging external valuation services. These external valuation services utilize cash flow

forecasts obtained from management and other sources. Significant increases or decreases in either of these

inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower or higher fair value measurement. Discount rates

applied in the valuation of investments are determined with reference to individual components of the

investments, and take into account key considerations such as geo-political risk, counterparty risk, regulatory

risk and operational risk.

Security 

Type

Equity 

Instruments

Debt 

Instruments 

2019:

2019:

$27,422,046,814 Discounted 

Cash Flow

$26,540,791,958

$2,042,904,904

2020:

 Range 

Cash flow forecasts

Discount rate

Cash flow forecasts

 Fair Value 
 Valuation 

Technique 

 Unobservable 

Input 

 Weighted 

Average 

N/A

(2019: N/A)

10.43%

(2019: 10.85%)

(2019: 11.29%)

N/A

(2019: N/A)

7.90% to 13.37%

(2019: 8.10% to 14.06%)

N/A

(2019: N/A)

8.10% to 12.80%

(2019: 9.05% to 13.00%)

N/A

(2019: N/A)

11.41%

18



IFM Global Infrastructure Fund
(A Cayman Islands Unit Trust) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.2 Derivative financial instruments

Volume of derivative activities

$ $
Foreign Currency Forwards - Assets

Foreign Currency Forwards - Liabilities

Options - Assets 

Options - Liabilities 

$ $

Foreign Currency Forwards - Assets

Foreign Currency Forwards - Liabilities

3.3 Valuation processes

(a) Traded investments

(b) Non-traded investments 

The Fund uses derivatives to partially offset its business exposure to foreign currency on expected cash flows,

on foreign investments and on certain existing assets and liabilities.

The Fund undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange

rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising

forward foreign exchange contracts.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.

The Fund considers the notional amounts at the year end to be representative of the volume of its derivative

activities during the year. The primary underlying risk for these foreign currency forward contracts is their

exposure to foreign exchange risk. 

Notional Value Fair Value

9,341,662,032

The valuation process of the Fund is governed by the IFM Group Valuation Policy (“Policy”), which is

established to ensure that the valuation techniques are fair and consistent, and valuation inputs are

supportable by following appropriate valuation processes and procedures. 

Traded investments include infrastructure investments, which are listed on any major securities exchange

and are actively traded, where the quoted prices are available for identical assets or liabilities.

The valuation of these securities would follow the end of day “Close” listed share price, in the respective

securities exchange, obtained from an IFM approved independent market data vendor. The current pricing

source for traded securities is Bloomberg.

         505,410,970 11,864,507,668

         569,487,339 12,893,248,565

760,797,600

Fair Value

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019 Notional Value

The non-traded investments include various infrastructure investments, including equity and debt, in which

the Fund has invested. Infrastructure investments will be independently valued quarterly at each quarter end

by an Independent Valuer, with the most recent valuations having been prepared at December 31, 2020.

760,797,600

      (576,133,576)

         218,421,734 

                 (11,530)

     1,538,393,660 22,479,719,005
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.3 Valuation processes (Cont'd)

(b) Non-traded investments (Cont'd)

(c) Derivatives

3.4 Financial risk management

(a) Credit risk

Concentration of credit risk

Infrastructure investments

The DCF method was utilised in determining the fair value for all non-traded investments as at December 31,

2020 (2019: same).

In its role as the Advisor, IFM Investors Pty Ltd uses derivatives to manage the currency exposure of the Fund.

The main types of derivatives used for this purpose are foreign currency forwards ("Forwards") and foreign

currency options ("Options"). Forwards and Options are valued using the appropriate spot or forward

exchange rates reported by an IFM approved independent pricing source. The current pricing source used for

valuing Forwards and Options is Bloomberg.

The Fund’s overall risk management programme focuses on ensuring compliance with the Trust Deed and the

Investment Guidelines of the Fund. It also seeks to maximize the returns derived for the level of risk to which

the Fund is exposed and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Fund’s financial performance. All

investments of the Fund are inherited with a potential risk of capital loss. The maximum loss of capital on the

Fund is limited to the fair value of those investments and derivatives.

The investments of the Fund, and associated risks, are managed by the Advisor, through its Board and other

specialized governance bodies, such as the Investment Committee and Risk Committee. 

The Fund's investment activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks. The Advisor, on behalf of the Fund

uses different methods to measure and manage these risks. These methods are explained below.

Credit risk is the potential loss the Fund may incur as a result of the failure of a counterparty or an issuer to

make payments according to the terms of a contract. The Fund's exposure to credit risk, at any point in time,

is represented by the fair value of the amounts reported as assets at such time.

As explained in Note 1.1, the investment objective of the Fund is to hold investments in a diversified portfolio

of global infrastructure investments. Therefore, the exposure to credit risk is concentrated around

infrastructure investments, which may be subject to rapid change in fair value as a result of changes in

various economic and market conditions which the underlying investments are exposed to.    

The valuation method is to be determined by the appointed Independent Valuer at their discretion as long as

the method falls within the standards prescribed under US GAAP ASC 820 and ASC 825 as appropriate. The

preferred method of valuation is the discounted cash flow (“DCF”) method, which may be subject to certain

exceptions depending on the nature of the underlying investment. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.4 Financial risk management (Cont'd)

Concentration of credit risk (Cont'd)

Cash held with financial institutions

Derivative positions

(b) Market risk

(c) Currency risk

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its

obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.

The Fund predominantly invest in unlisted infrastructure investments that are not traded in active markets.

As a result, the Fund may not be able to quickly liquidate its investments to meet its short term liquidity

requirements or to respond to specific events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular

issuer or counterparty. Exposure to liquidity risk for the Fund may include, but not limited to the following.

The banking operations for the Fund's cash requirements are provided by a number of financial institutions.

The Fund is subject to credit risk should these financial institutions be unable to fulfil their obligations to

return the Fund's cash or securities. This risk is mitigated by the fact that domestic accounts are carried as a

customer account, and are therefore afforded certain protection under the rules of the U.S. Securities and

Exchange Commission and under the Securities Investor Protection Corporation's insurance program.

The Fund is subject to credit risk to the extent any counterparties with which it enters into derivative

operations are unable to fulfil their contractual obligations. The Advisor monitors the financial conditions and

exposure to those counterparties and does not anticipate any material default risk from these counterparties.

The Fund does not actively speculate with derivatives. Derivatives, which mainly include foreign currency

forward contracts are in place to hedge the underlying currency exposures related to investment assets which

are denominated in a foreign currency.

The Fund is also exposed to market risk. This is the risk of potential loss due to the fluctuation in the market

value of investments owned. Valuations are independently appraised and obtained. The estimated fair values

are predominantly based on the discounted cash flow approach. Because of the inherent uncertainty of

valuations, the estimated value may differ significantly from the value that would have been used had a ready

market for the securities existed, and the difference could be material.  

Currency risk arises from the possibility that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates will affect the value of

investments, including direct or indirect investments in securities in non-U.S. companies.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES (CONT'D)

3.4 Financial risk management (Cont'd)

(d) Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Requirement to meet redemption requests from the Feeders

The Advisor is responsible for monitoring the liquidity risk of the Fund. In order to mitigate such risks being

materialized, the Advisor has appropriate policies, systems and procedures which are subject to scrutiny by

its board and other specialized governing bodies, such as the Investment Committee and Risk Committee.

Since inception of operations, neither the Master Fund nor the Feeders have rejected or withheld any

redemption requests from the investors. 

Requirement to meet hedge settlements and other operational expenses such as 

management and performance fees 

As per the Liquidity Management Policy of the Advisor, regular cash flow forecasts are prepared to ensure the

above obligations can be met, as and when they are due. Cash flow forecasts are prepared for hedged

positions every quarter, or more frequently, subject to the occurrence or increased risk of events which may

have a material adverse effect on liquidity position of the Fund.

As part of its prudent approach to liquidity management, the Advisor conducts stress testing on the portfolio,

at least annually. These scenarios typically include redemptions, operational expenses and adverse hedging

positions. Foreign exchange contracts are analysed for significant “out of the money positions” as they

become due for settlement.

Sources of cash used by the Fund include existing cash and cash equivalents, distributions from assets,

drawdowns of investor commitments at Feeders and borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Feeders have a well-defined redemption process which is designed to protect the Fund and Feeders from

any sudden or large withdrawal by investors. In order to manage the overall liquidity of the Master-Feeder

structure, the governing bodies of the Feeders have the discretion to limit or suspend redemptions, if the

aggregate amount of redemption requests are greater than certain thresholds set in the redemption policy of

the Feeders. 

Historically, the Fund has not experienced any significant redemptions or withdrawals, and Investment

Advisors of the Master Fund and the Feeders collectively mitigate these risks through careful selection of

Investors, which mainly consist of pension funds and other institutional investors who have long term

investment horizons that are similar to the Fund. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 DEBT FACILITY

Increase in the Facility limit, subsequent to the year end  

On January 22, 2021 the Facility limit was increased to $4.0 billion incorporating the following amendments:

• 

• 

4.1 Utilization of the Facility by the Fund

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 31 December

2020 2019
$ $

Outstanding loan balances, beginning of the year                                -                                - 

Borrowings         500,000,000 a                                - 

Repayments       (500,000,000)                                - 

Outstanding loan balances, end of the year                                -                                - 

a

4.2 Utilization of the Facility by the Financing Entities

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

$ $

IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (Cayman) Ltd

Outstanding loan balances, beginning of the year                                - 240,000,000

Borrowings                                - 320,404,722

Repayments                                - (560,404,722)    

Outstanding loan balances, end of the year                                -                                - 

The Fund utilized and settled the facility during the year for its short term liquidity requirements.

In addition to the Fund, the entities listed below are also entitled to borrow from the Facility, which were

collectively referred to as Borrowers above. These entities are fully owned by the Fund and are operating as

"Financing Entities" of the Fund. The objective of the Financing Entities are to provide short-term funding to

the Fund for capital expenditure and working capital requirements.

The Trustee on behalf of the Fund entered into a Syndicated Facility Agreement dated November 23, 2018

(the “Facility”) with National Australia Bank Limited, the lead arranger for the Facility. Subject to the terms of

the Facility, the Fund and certain nominated entities owned by the Fund, (collectively referred to as the

"Borrowers"), are entitled to a Revolving Loan and Letter of Credit Facility in an aggregate amount equal to

the Facility limit, which is $3.0 billion as at December 31, 2020 (2019: 3.0 billion).

The Facility was utilized by the Borrowers during the year and subsequent to the year end. The details of

utilization and the balance outstanding as at the year-end and up to the date the financial statements were

issued are given in the notes below. 

The Borrowers' ability to utilize the Facility is subject to meeting certain financial ratios at the time of the

drawdown. The Borrowings bear interest at 1.0% per annum over the prevailing market benchmark.

Drawings can be rolled over up to the maturity date of the Facility, which is April 30, 2022.

The original facility of $3.0 billion to be referred to as Facility-A.  There were no changes to the existing 

terms.

An additional facility of $1.0 billion, referred to as Facility-B, bearing interest at 0.85% per annum over the 

prevailing market benchmark.
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4 DEBT FACILITY (CONT'D)

4.2 Utilization of the Facility by the Financing Entities (Cont'd)

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

$ $

IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (US) LLC

Outstanding loan balances, beginning of the year         150,000,000                                - 

Borrowings                                - 1,000,000,000

Repayments (150,000,000)     a (850,000,000)    

Outstanding loan balances, end of the year                                -         150,000,000 

a

4.3 Utilisation of the Facility by way of letter of credit

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

$ $

Colonial Pipeline Company 5,915,000                                - 

Concession Investment Holdings, LLC 89,241,000 371,741,000

Freeport LNG - part of IFM FLIQ Holdings 2 LLC                                - 87,454,190

           95,156,000         459,195,190 

Letter of credit issued, subsequent to the year end

5 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

5.1 Contingent liabilities

On February 1, 2021, two letters of credit were issued by IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (Cayman) Ltd by

utilizing the Facility-A up to EUR 1,625 million and Facility-B up to EUR 820m to facilitate an ongoing offer

made by the Fund to acquire a substantial stake in Naturgy Energy Group S.A. Refer to further details given in

Note 10, Subsequent Events.     

In the normal course of business, the Fund enters into contracts that contain a variety of representations,

warranties and covenants and that provide general indemnification for breaches of these representations,

warranties and covenants. The Fund’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this

could involve future claims that may be made against the Fund that have not yet occurred. However, based on

experience, the Fund expects the risk of loss to be remote.

The Fund has provided the following guarantees by way of letter of credit to the underlying investee

companies. Further details relating to these Letters of Credit are given in Note 5.

Relates to the balance outstanding for the acquisition of Buckeye Partners, L.P. The remaining balance was 

fully settled during the year.
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5 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONT'D)

5.2 Unfunded commitments

There were no other unfunded commitments as at December 31, 2020. 

5.3 Guarantees 

Colonial Pipeline Company

Concession Investment Holdings, LLC

In the normal course of business, the Fund enters into investment arrangements which may result in

unfunded commitments. These unfunded commitments are facilitated by utilizing the Facility, as disclosed in

Note 4 of the financial statements.

The Fund entered into an agreement on December 13, 2013 to invest approximately $1.3 billion of equity

funding for the natural gas liquefaction and export facility developed by Freeport LNG Development L.P. in

Freeport, Texas (“FLNG”). The unfunded commitments was fully honoured by the Fund during the year, and

the project commenced operations in January 2020.  

The Fund has provided as guarantee by way of a letter of credit on behalf of IFM (US) Colonial Pipeline 2 LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”) in order to satisfy the debt service reserve amount

required as a covenant for its senior notes issued to external investors. The letter of credit is issued in favour

of MUFG Union Bank, N.A, as the Collateral Agent. The letter of credit balance as at the year end is disclosed in

Note 4 of the financial statements.

The Fund owns an indirect equity interest of 100% in the Company, which in turn holds 15.8% of Colonial

Pipeline Company, which owns and operates a refined petroleum products pipeline in the US.  

In its normal course of business, the Fund provides guarantees on behalf of its investee companies. These

guarantees are provided by utilizing the Facility by way of letter of credit. Guarantees are primarily issued in

support of certain financial obligations of the investee companies to external parties. These guarantees are

facilitated by utilizing the Facility, as disclosed in Note 4 of the financial statements.

The Fund owns an indirect equity interest of 85.21% in ITRCC, which is responsible for the construction,

maintenance, repair and operation of the Indiana Toll Road.

The Fund entered into an agreement on October 18, 2017 with Concession Investment Holdings, LLC to

provide a guarantee for the bond notes issued by ITR Concession Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability

company (“ITRCC”). According to the agreement, the Fund issued a letter of credit to ITRCC and Citibank, N.A.

(the “Collateral Agent"). The Letter of Credit balance as at the year end is disclosed in Note 4 of the financial

statements.
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6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

6.1 Trustee fee 

6.2 Management fee 

• 

• 

• 

• 

For IFM Global Infrastructure (US) I-B, L.P. and Class B interests of the other Partnerships, the management 

fee is equal to:

The management fee incurred during the year is disclosed in the Statement of Operation and the management

fee payable as at the year end is disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities. 

For the unit classes which are held by Australian domiciled Managed Investment Schemes ("Australian 

Feeders"), the Fund do not change any management fee, instead the fee is recognized at the Australian 

Feeders' level. The unit classes attributed to the Australian Feeders include IFM II PST Unit, IFM II Wholesale 

Units and IFM II Wholesale Units 2.  

The Trustee of the Fund is Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited. Certain operations of the Fund have

been delegated by the Trustee to IFM Investors Pty Ltd, who is acting in its capacity as the Advisor to the

Fund. Accordingly, transactions with the Trustee, the Advisor and their related entities are considered as

parties related to the Fund and their transactions are disclosed below. 

The Trustee is paid a trustee fee which is contractually stipulated on an annual basis. The trustee fee paid for

the year is disclosed in the Statement of Operations.

0.65% per annum of the total amount of the Limited Partner’s share of NAV of the Fund if either such

Limited Partner’s commitment  or share of NAV of the Fund is equal to or exceeds $300 million.

0.97% per annum of the Limited Partner’s share of NAV of the Fund if such Limited Partner’s commitment

and share of NAV of the Fund are both below $300 million; or

0.85% per annum of the total amount of the Limited Partner's share of NAV of the Fund if either such

Limited Partner's commitment share of NAV of the Fund is equal to or exceeds $300 million.

The amounts determined for each Limited Partner in each of the Partnerships who hold all of its units in the

Fund’s unit classes are then aggregated to determine the total management fee payable to the Advisor. Each

Partnership does not incur a management fee directly. Instead, the management fee is recognized at the Fund

level and allocated to the Partnership.

The Advisor and its affiliates are entitled to a management fee which accrues monthly and is payable

quarterly in arrears. This fee is determined for each of the Partnerships who hold all of its units in the Fund’s

unit classes. Each Partnership comprises a General Partner and a number of Limited Partners.  

For each Limited Partner in each Partnership, the management fee is determined as follows.

For IFM Global Infrastructure (US) I-A, L.P, IFM Global Infrastructure (Canada) I-A L.P. and Class A, Class C 

and Class D interests of the other Partnerships, the management fee is equal to:

0.77% per annum of the Limited Partner’s share of net asset value ("NAV") of the Fund if such Limited

Partner’s commitment and share of net asset value of the Fund are both below $300 million; or
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6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

6.4 Related-party unit holdings (Cont'd)

Related‐party unitholding not otherwise disclosed include the following:

6.5 Related party investments and transactions 

IFM USD Liquidity Fund

$ $ $ $
Year ended December 31, 2020 2,934,445,142 2,073,100,000 9,301,287 1,089,252,405

Year ended December 31, 2019 756,681,947 529,000,000 3,681,947 228,087,019

Related‐party investments not otherwise disclosed include the following:

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund acquires and maintains a diversified portfolio of global

infrastructure investments. As a result of these investment transactions conducted through the Fund, the

Fund may become the ultimate parent or may exercise significant influence over these infrastructure

investments in making financial and operating decisions. The Fund contributes capital and receives interest,

dividends and distributions from these infrastructure investments.   

Distribution 

Received

Fair Value of 

Investment DisposalsPurchases 

The Fund held an investment in the following entity which had the same trustee and the advisor as the Fund.

In the ordinary course of business, the Partnerships contribute capital and receive distributions as a result of

transactions conducted through the Fund. These transactions are disclosed in Note 7 of the financial

statements.

The Fund is the master fund in a master-feeder structure. The Fund receives capital by several feeder vehicles

(“Partnerships”) that invests into different unit classes of the Fund. These Partnerships are governed by their

respective general partners who share common management in that they have the same ultimate controlling

party as the Advisor of the Fund. 
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9 RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

9.1 New and amended accounting pronouncements adopted by the Fund

In August 2018, the FASB issued the ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure 

Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement , to streamline disclosure

requirements while continuing to provide useful information for financial statement users. For non-public

entities, ASU 2018-13 eliminates disclosures for policy of timing of transfers, valuation process for Level 3 fair

value measurements and the changes in unrealized gains and losses included in Level 3 investments held at

the end of the reporting period. The ASU also amends disclosure requirements for the Level 3 roll forward. All

other changes implemented by the ASU are applicable to public companies only. 

The Fund adopted the above accounting pronouncements on a retrospective basis as of January 1, 2020 and

for the presentation of financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. The effect of adopting this

accounting pronouncement had no material impact on the recognition and measurement principles. The

management had the option to remove or modify certain fair value measurement disclosures currently

presented in the Financial Statement. However, the Fund has continued to present such disclosures for the

benefit of the readers of these financial statements.

There are no other new accounting pronouncements, interpretations or amendments to existing accounting

pronouncements, which are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning January 1, 2020 that had

a material impact on the recognition and measurement principles and disclosure requirements on these

financial statements of the Fund.
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9 RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (CONT'D)

9.2 New accounting pronouncements and interpretations not yet adopted

10 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Naturgy Energy Group S.A.

Enwave Energy Corporation

Fund Facility

On January 22, 2021 the Facility limit was increased to $4.0 billion, refer further details disclosed in Note 4.

The Fund, in partnership with Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan Board (“Ontario Teachers”), entered into a

definitive agreement with an affiliate of Brookfield Infrastructure Group Inc. (“Brookfield”) to jointly acquire a

100% interest in Enwave Energy Corporation (“Enwave”). The Fund and Ontario Teachers will each hold

50.0% of Enwave. The transaction is subject to relevant merger control, government and regulatory 

On February 1, 2021, two letters of credit were issued by IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (Cayman) Ltd (a

wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund) by utilising Facility-A up to EUR 1,625 million and Facility-B up to EUR

820 million to facilitate an ongoing offer made by the Fund to acquire a stake in Naturgy as described above.

The Trustee has evaluated events and transactions for the potential recognition or disclosure through to

March 12, 2021, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined

that there were no additional subsequent events requiring adjustment or disclosure in the financial

statements other than those disclosed below.

Subsequent to the year end, the Fund entered into the following contractual arrangements to purchase new

investments which is in line with its general nature of operations. The completion of these investments is

contingent upon meeting conditions described below. 

There are no other new accounting pronouncements, interpretations or amendments to existing accounting

pronouncements that are not yet effective and are expected to have a material impact on the Fund in the

current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

The Fund launched an offer to purchase up to 220 million shares, representing 22.69% ownership, in Naturgy

Energy Group S.A. (“Naturgy”), which is a leading global gas and electric utility headquartered in Madrid,

Spain and is listed on the IBEX 35 exchange.

The value of the transaction will depend on the resulting ownership and the offer is subject to a minimum

acceptance of 165 million shares, or a 17% stake, as well as certain regulatory approvals and other customary

closing conditions.
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The following two pages of the offer document do not form part of the audited IFM Global Infrastructure 
Fund financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, prepared in accordance with US GAAP, 
and have not been audited. These pages of the offer document have been included to provide the reader of 
the IFM Global Infrastructure Fund financial statements with details of the information deemed to be 
commercially sensitive that has been redacted from the IFM Global Infrastructure Fund financial 
statements included in this offer document.  
 
Deloitte & Touche audited the IFM Global Infrastructure Fund financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2020.  The audit report included in this offer document is the audit report that was issued on the 
IFM Global Infrastructure Fund financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.  Those financial 
statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP included all the commercially sensitive information 
which has been redacted from the financial statements included within this offer document.  
 
The information which has been redacted in the financial statements includes:   
 
Page 6 – Performance and management fee payable balances.  

Page 7 – Schedule of Investments. 

Page 8 – Schedule of Investments.  

Page 9 – Schedule of Investments.  

Page 10 – Performance and management fee expense balances. 

Page 18 – The impact of COVID-19 on the valuations of the assets held by IFM Global Infrastructure Fund 

from note 3.1(c). 

Page 19 – The impact of COVID-19 on the valuations of the assets held by IFM Global Infrastructure Fund 

from note 3.1(c). 

Page 28 – Note 6.3 - Related Party Transactions – Performance fees. 

Page 30 – Note 7 - Classes of Units. 

Page 31 – Note 7 - Classes of Units. 

Page 32 – Note 7 - Classes of Units. 

Page 33 – Note 7 - Classes of Units. 

Page 34 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 35 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 36 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 37 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 38 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 39 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 40 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

Page 41 – Note 8 - Financial Highlights. 

 

  



In relation to the Schedule of Investments, the list of portfolio companies in which IFM Global Infrastructure 

Fund holds an interest at 31 December 2020 was as follows: 

Equity Interests 

• GCT Global Container Terminals 

• Freeport Train 2 

• Buckeye Partners, L.P. 

• Colonial Pipeline Company 

• Concession Holdings, LLC ("Indiana Toll Road") 

• Aléatica 

• IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (US) LLC 

• IFM Global Infrastructure Finance (Cayman) Ltd 

• IFM USD Liquidity Fund 

• Veolia Energia Polska SA 

• Manchester Airports Group 

• Flughahen Wien AG (“Vienna Airport”) 

• Mersin International Port 

• DCT Gdansk 

• FCC Aqualia 

• Anglian Water Group Limited 

• Arqiva UK Broadcast Holdings Ltd 

• VTTI 

• Impala Terminals 

Debt Interests 

• GCT Global Container Terminals 

• Manchester Airports Group 

• DCT Gdansk 

• Anglian Water Group Limited 

• M6 Toll 

• Arqiva UK Broadcast Services Plc 





















































 

ANEXO 15 

Copia de las cuentas anuales consolidadas auditadas de Global InfraCo Spain, S.L.U. 

correspondientes al ejercicio cerrado a 31 de diciembre de 2019 
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	18.2 Share Qualifications
	18.3 Natural Persons
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	(a) becomes an insolvent under administration or makes any arrangement with his or her creditors;
	(b) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with under any law relating to mental health;
	(c) resigns, retires or is removed from the office of Director; or
	(d) ceases to be or is prohibited to be a Director pursuant to the Corporations Act 2001 or this Constitution.

	18.5 Other Offices
	18.6 Appointment by Director's Personal Representative
	(a) dies; or
	(b) cannot manage the Company because of the person's mental incapacity;

	18.7 Appointment by Trustee in Bankruptcy
	(a) the office of the Director is vacated under paragraph 224(1)(c) of the Corporations Act 2001 because of the bankruptcy of the Director;
	(b) a trustee in bankruptcy is appointed to the person's property, the trustee may appoint a person as the Director of the Company.
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	20. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
	20.1 Remuneration and Expenses
	20.2 Special Remuneration

	21. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS
	21.1 Directors' Contracts
	(a) Directors are not disqualified from entering into a contract or arrangement with the Company or from becoming or remaining a director of another company which has contracts with the Company;
	(b) contracts or arrangements involving the Company, cannot be avoided on the basis that a Director has an interest in the contract or arrangement;
	(c) Directors are not liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by them as a result of being interested in the contract or arrangement; and
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	(b) is entitled to receive notice of all Directors' meetings and if the appointor is not present at a meeting, the alternate Director may attend and vote at that meeting;
	(c) ceases to hold office immediately upon the appointor ceasing to be a Director; and
	(d) is not entitled to remuneration from the Company.
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	25.2 Meetings
	25.3 Quorum
	25.4 Voting
	25.5 Decisions of Board
	25.6 Board Meetings by Instantaneous Communication Device
	(a) all Directors including alternate Directors who are entitled to receive notice of a meeting are given notice;
	(b) each Director has access to and is linked to the other Directors by the relevant instantaneous communication device;
	(c) each Director taking part in the meeting is able to hear each of the other Directors taking part in the meeting; and
	(d) the fact that each Director is taking part must be known to each other Director taking part.
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	25.9 Defect in Appointment
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	27. MINUTES
	27.1 Secretary to Enter Minutes
	(a) all appointments of officers;
	(b) the names of all persons present at each Board meeting and committee meeting;
	(c) the resolutions and proceedings of all meetings of the Company and of all Board meetings and committee meetings; and
	(d) all declarations made or notices given by a Director of his or her interest in a contract or proposed contract and of his or her office or property as a result of which a conflict of duty or interest may arise.

	27.2 Minutes to be Signed
	27.3 Minute Book

	28. STATUTORY REGISTERS
	(a) register of Members;
	(b) register of Debenture holders;
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	33. AUDITORS
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	34.1 Service
	(a) by leaving it at the Member's registered address;
	(b) by posting it by pre-paid ordinary mail to the Member's registered address:
	(i) if the registered address is outside Australia, to the address within Australia given by the Member to the Company as the address for service of notices;  or
	(ii) if the Member is deceased or bankrupt or otherwise under a legal disability to the address given to the Company by the person entitled under the clause dealing with transmission of shares; or

	(c) by facsimile to the Member's number for service as notified by the Member to the Company.

	34.2 Time of Service
	(a) by post is deemed received if posted within Australia to an Australian address two business days after posting;
	(b) by facsimile, is deemed received at the time indicated on the transmission report produced by the sender's facsimile machine indicating that the facsimile was sent in its entirety to the addressee" address;
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	35. INDEMNITY
	(a) Every Director and other officer of the Company is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which may be incurred as a result of executing his or her office.
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	(ii) in defending any criminal or civil proceedings arising out of their conduct as an officer of the Company.
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